Ballarat Community Health Constitution

Dated: 10 November 2021

Ballarat Community Health (A Company Limited by Guarantee) A.C.N. 136 362 993 A.B.N. 98 227 492 950 This document is the Constitution for a company incorporated under the Corporations Act of the Commonwealth of Australia and operates under the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 2012. It contains a number of rules which sets out how the company is to be managed.

The rules incorporate or amend the replaceable rules described in the Corporations Act 2001 and have additional rules to assist Members and Directors of the Company to manage the affairs of their company efficiently.

Directors and Members should see the Rules contained in this Constitution as a guide to how they must conduct the affairs of their Company. Where there is any doubt as to the management of the company, or the powers of Directors or Members to make a decision or take a particular act, reference should be made to the Corporations Act and advice sought from the Company's professional advisers.

This Constitution was adopted by the Ballarat Community Health Members 10 November 2021.

Table of Contents

1.	INTERPRETATION	1
2.	NATURE OF COMPANY AND LIABILITY	3
3.	CHARITABLE PURPOSES OF THE COMPANY	3
4.	INTENT	4
5.	MEMBERSHIP	4
6.	APPLICATION FEE AND ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION	7
7.	REMOVAL AND CESSATION OF MEMBERSHP	7
8.	NO PROFITS FOR MEMBERS	9
9.	GENERAL MEETINGS	9
10.	PROXIES AND REPRESENTATIVES	14
11.	APPOINTMENT AND RETIREMENT OF DIRECTORS	14
12.	POWERS OF DIRECTOR	17
13.	REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS	17
14.	PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS	18
15.	SECRETARY	20
16.	CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER	21
17.	INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE	21
18.	EXECUTION OF DOCUMENTS	22
19.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	22
20.	CONFLICTS OF INTEREST	23
21.	DISSOLUTION OF COMPANY	23
22.	GIFT FUND	24
23.	ACCOUNTS, AUDIT AND RECORDS	25
24.	NOTICES	25

Corporations Act 2001 Public Company Limited by Guarantee

CONSTITUTION OF

Ballarat Community Health

1. INTERPRETATION

1.1 Definitions

In this Constitution, unless the context requires otherwise, the following words and expressions shall have the following meanings:

- 1.1.1 **the Act** means the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) and any statutory modification, amendment or re-enactment thereof from time to time in force, and a reference to any Section shall mean a section of the Act;
- 1.1.2 **Annual Subscription** means the dollar sum (if any):
 - 1.1.2.1 set out in the Schedule; or
 - 1.1.2.2 set by the Board in accordance with Rule 6.2
- 1.1.3 **Application Fee** means the dollar sum (if any):
 - 1.1.3.1 set out in the Schedule; or
 - 1.1.3.2 set by the Board in accordance with Rule 6.1;
- 1.1.4 **Board** means all of the Directors of the Company for the time being. In the event that the Company has a sole Director, the word **Board** shall mean that Director and includes alternate directors but not an associate director;
- 1.1.5 **Business Day** means any day which is not a Saturday, Sunday or Public Holiday in jurisdictions where the Company operates;
- 1.1.6 **Chief Executive Officer** means the person appointed to that role in accordance with Rule 16;
- 1.1.7 **Company** means the above-named Company;
- 1.1.8 **Director** means any Director of the Company and a reference to **Directors** means the Board;
- 1.1.9 **Guarantee Amount** means the dollar sum referred to in the Schedule and represents the limit of liability of an individual member if the company is wound up;
- 1.1.10 **Life Member** means a person who has made a significant contribution to the Company, and who has in recognition of that contribution, been made a life Member of the Company by resolution of the Board;

- 1.1.11 **Member** means any person whose name is, for the time, being recorded in the Register as a Member, and, unless specified, includes Voting Members and Life Members;
- 1.1.12 **Office** or **Registered Office** means the Registered Office for the time being of the Company;
- 1.1.13 **Officer** means a person in a contracted or employment role with the Company who holds specified responsibilities including those provided under any authorised Instrument of Delegation;
- 1.1.14 **Poll** means any method of voting, including by a show of hands, verbally or in writing, where it is possible to determine the exact number of votes for and against a particular motion;
- 1.1.15 **Register** means the register of Members, Directors and other information required by the Act;
- 1.1.16 **Rules** means the Rules forming part of this Constitution, as originally adopted or as from time to time added to or amended;
- 1.1.17 Seal or Common Seal means the common seal of the Company (if any);
- 1.1.18 **Secretary** means and includes the Secretary and any assistant or acting Secretary, and any other person for the time being appointed to perform (whether alone or in addition to any other person or persons) the duties of a Secretary of the Company;
- 1.1.19 **Special Resolution** has the meaning assigned to that term by Section 9 of the Act;
- 1.1.20 **Voting Members** means those Members meeting the description set out in Rule 5.2;
- 1.1.21 **Written** or **In writing** includes printing and lithography and other modes of reproducing or representing words in a visible form, and shall include electronic means provided the same can be recorded in a permanent form.

1.2 Interpretation

In these Rules unless a different intention appears:

- 1.2.1 words importing a singular number only shall include plural number and vice versa;
- 1.2.2 words importing one gender only shall include any gender;
- 1.2.3 words importing persons shall include companies and corporations;
- 1.2.4 words and expressions contained in these Rules shall be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of the Act as in force as at the date which such interpretation is required;
- 1.2.5 any heading or marginal note inserted in these Rules is included for convenience only and shall not affect the construction of these Rules; and

- 1.2.6 the number of Members and Directors in the Company shall be not less than and not more than the number allowed by the Act;
- 1.2.7 a reference to any law or legislation provision includes any statutory modification, amendment or re-enactment, and any subordinate legislation or regulations issued under that legislation or legislative provision, in either case whether before, on or after the date of this document; and
- 1.2.8 a reference to dollars or \$ means Australian dollars.

1.3 Replaceable Rules

Each of the replaceable rules contained in the Act are displaced and do not apply to the Company.

1.4 Amendment of the Constitution

- 1.4.1 This Constitution may be amended by Special Resolution at a duly constituted General Meeting of the Company.
- 1.4.2 The Special Resolution requires an affirmative vote by a majority of Voting Members present at the General Meeting (inclusive of proxies).
- 1.4.3 The number of affirmative votes must also be greater than or equal to 50% of the Voting Members listed on the Company Register as of the date of the General Meeting.
- 1.4.4 Voting Members may not pass a Special Resolution that amends this Constitution if passing it results in the Company no longer being a Registered Charity.

2. NATURE OF COMPANY AND LIABILITY

2.1 Nature of Company

The Company is a public Company Limited by Guarantee incorporated on 31 March 2009

2.2 Liability of Members

The liability of the Members is limited.

2.3 Guarantee

Every Member undertakes to contribute the Guarantee Amount to the assets of the Company if it is wound up while he or she is a Member, or within one (1) year after he or she is removed from the Register.

3. CHARITABLE PURPOSES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's object is to pursue the following charitable purposes:

- **3.1** Participants enjoy good health and wellbeing
- **3.2** Participants are supported by and contributing to their communities

- **3.3** Workforce and service systems support good health and wellbeing
- **3.4** Ballarat Community Health maintains a sustainable business model to meet participant outcomes

4. INTENT

- **4.1** Ballarat Community Health maintains a not-for-profit intent with surplus amounts applied to the provision of services and continuity of the company.
- **4.2** Fee for Service provision may occur but is to be arranged so that Deductible Gift Recipient status and rate exemptions may be legitimately upheld.

5. MEMBERSHIP

5.1 Classes of Membership

The membership of the Company will be divided into the following classes of membership:

- 5.1.1 Voting Members
- 5.1.2 Life Members

5.2 Voting Members

A Voting Member of the Company is any natural person over the age of 18 who:

- 5.2.1 applies for membership in the form approved by the Board from time to time;
- 5.2.2 agrees to pay the Guarantee Amount;
- 5.2.3 is approved as a Member and has their name entered in the Register; and
- 5.2.4 specifies in their membership application (or subsequently notifies the Board in writing) that they wish to be a Voting Member and:
- 5.2.5 pays the Application Fee; and
- 5.2.6 pays an Annual Subscription.

5.3 Life Members

- 5.3.1 A Life Member is any natural person who has made a significant contribution to the Company and is appointed to that category of membership by a by a resolution of the Board.
- 5.3.2 A Life Member has all the rights and obligations of a Voting Member, but the requirement for annual renewal of membership and payment of the Annual Subscription is waived.

5.4 Membership

The Members of the Company are:

- 5.4.1 those persons named in the Schedule who have consented to be named as the initial Members in the application for incorporation of the Company to the Australian Securities and Investments Commission; and
- 5.4.2 such other persons as the Company admits to membership in accordance with these Rules.

5.5 Application for membership

Any individual who is at least 18 years old at the date of application may apply to be a Member of the Company.

5.6 Members

All Members must comply with these Rules

Voting Members must also:

- 5.6.1 pay the Application Fee in accordance with Rule 6.1; and
- 5.6.2 in order to maintain Membership, pay the Annual Subscription in accordance with Rule 6.2.
- 5.6.3 A Voting Member has the right to receive notices of and to attend and be heard at any general meeting and has the right to vote at any general meeting.

5.7 Form of application

An application for membership must be in the form approved by the Board from time to time, provided however that the Board may not approve an application for membership unless:

- 5.7.1 it contains the full name, address and signature of the applicant;
- 5.7.2 the applicant agrees in writing to pay the Guarantee Amount in accordance with these Rules; and
- 5.7.3 if the application specifies that the Member wishes to be a Voting Member it is accompanied by payment of any applicable Application Fee and Annual Subscription.

5.8 Admission to Membership

- 5.8.1 On receipt of an application to become a Member, the Chief Executive Officer must forward the application to the Board.
- 5.8.2 The Board must consider each application for Membership as soon as practicable after its receipt. The Board has discretion to admit or reject the application. The Board need not give reasons for its decision but must inform the applicant of its decision within 45 days.
- 5.8.3 If the Board accepts an application for membership, the Company Secretary must enter the applicant's name in the Register with as little delay as possible. The applicant becomes a Member of the Company when their name is

entered in the Register. If the application is rejected, the amount of the Annual Subscription paid by the applicant must be returned to the applicant.

- 5.8.4 A right, privilege or obligation of a person by reason of his or her membership of the Company:
 - 5.8.4.1 is not capable of being transferred or transmitted to another person; and
 - 5.8.4.2 terminates upon the cessation of his or her membership, except for the obligation to pay the Guarantee Amount pursuant to Rule 2.3

5.9 Entry onto Register

- 5.9.1 The Company Secretary must enter the name and details of the applicant in the Register as soon as practicable after the application for membership is accepted.
- 5.9.2 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Rules, no person is:
 - 5.9.2.1 entitled to the rights and benefits of membership; or
 - 5.9.2.2 obliged to contribute the Guarantee Amount;

unless and until that person's details are entered in the Register.

5.10 Register of Members

- 5.10.1 A register of the Members of the Company must be kept in accordance with the Act.
- 5.10.2 The following details must be entered in the Register in respect of each Member:
 - 5.10.2.1 the full name of the Member, their address, telephone and all contact details;
 - 5.10.2.2 the category of Membership;
 - 5.10.2.3 the date of admission to and cessation of Membership;
 - 5.10.2.4 the date of last payment of the Member's Annual Subscription (if applicable);
 - 5.10.2.5 such other information as the Board requires.
- 5.10.3 Each Member must notify the Company Secretary in writing of any change in that person's name, address, telephone or other contact details within one month after the change.

5.11 Period of membership

For the avoidance of doubt:

- 5.11.1 Membership is annual from 1 July to 30 June in each year;
- 5.11.2 Voting Members wishing to remain Voting Members must pay the Annual Subscription, in accordance with Rule 6.2, to retain their status as Voting Members; and

6. APPLICATION FEE AND ANNUAL SUBSCRIPTION

6.1 Application fee

The Board may from time to time change the Application Fee.

6.2 Annual subscription

- 6.2.1 In order to maintain membership, each Voting Member must pay the Annual Subscription.
- 6.2.2 The Board must invoice each Voting Member for the Annual Subscription by no later than the date determined by the Board from time to time.
- 6.2.3 Annual Subscriptions are due and payable within 30 days of the date of the invoice referred to in Rule 6.2.2.
- 6.2.4 The Board may from time to time change the Annual Subscription.

6.3 Waiver

The Board may waive the Application Fee or Annual Subscription for any Member, either permanently or for any period determined by the Board.

7. REMOVAL AND CESSATION OF MEMBERSHP

7.1 Resignation

- 7.1.1 A Member may resign from membership of the Company by giving written notice to the Company Secretary.
- 7.1.2 The resignation of a Member is deemed to take effect from the date of receipt of the notice of resignation or such later date as is provided in the notice.

7.2 Failure to pay Annual Subscription

If a Voting Member has not paid all arrears of Annual Subscriptions by 5:00pm on 30 September in the same year it is due then that person automatically ceases to be a Voting Member and the Secretary must amend the Register as soon as reasonably practicable to delete the member. That person may only be reinstated as a Voting Member upon payment in full of all arrears and by following the application and admission procedure in Rule 5.

7.3 Other cessation of Membership

A Member automatically ceases to be a Member upon the Member:

- 7.3.1 dying;
- 7.3.2 being declared bankrupt.

7.4 Removal from Membership

- 7.4.1 The Board may convene a meeting of Members to consider the removal of a Member from the Register, if a majority of the Board do not consider that Member to be suitable for membership.
- 7.4.2 The Board must:
 - 7.4.2.1 provide at least two (2) month's written notice to any Member of any intention to remove that Member from the Register, so as to enable the Member to provide any written representations to the Company; and
 - 7.4.2.2 give the Members at least twenty-one (21) days written notice of the meeting convened in accordance with Rule 7.4.1.
- 7.4.3 Where:
 - 7.4.3.1 any written representations are made by the Member; and
 - 7.4.3.2 the Member requests that the representations be notified to Members of the Company,

the Company must do both of the following:

- 7.4.3.3 state, in any notice of the meeting given to Members of the Company, that the representations have been made; and
- 7.4.3.4 send a copy of the representations to every Member of the Company to whom the notice of the meeting has been or is sent.
- 7.4.4 The requirements in Rule 7.4.3 do not apply to the Company if the representations are received by it too late for it to satisfy those requirements.
- 7.4.5 If a copy of the representations is not so sent because they were received too late or because of the Company's default, the Member may, without affecting any right to be heard orally, require the representations be read out at the meeting.
- 7.4.6 Copies of the representations need not be sent out and the representations need not be read out at the meeting if the Board is satisfied on reasonable grounds that the rights conferred by Rule 7.4.3 are being abused to secure publicity for defamatory matter.
- 7.4.7 The Directors may opt not to give reasons for recommending the removal of any Member from the Register.
- 7.4.8 An ordinary resolution of Members is required to pass the necessary resolution to remove a Member under Rule 7.4

8. NO PROFITS FOR MEMBERS

8.1 Application of income or property

- 8.1.1 The assets and income of the Company shall be applied solely in furtherance of the Company's objects.
- 8.1.2 No portion of the Company's assets or income shall be distributed directly or indirectly to the Members, except as permitted by Rule 8.2.

8.2 Payments, services and information

- 8.2.1 Nothing in Rule 8 prevents the payment in good faith of any of the following:
 - 8.2.1.1 remuneration to any officers or employees of the Company for services actually rendered to the Company;
 - 8.2.1.2 an amount to any Member in return for any services actually rendered to the Company or for goods supplied in the ordinary and usual course of business;
 - 8.2.1.3 reasonable and proper interest on money borrowed from any Member;
 - 8.2.1.4 reasonable and proper rent for premises let by any Member to the Company; or
 - 8.2.1.5 an amount to reimburse a Member for expenditure incurred by the Member, in furtherance of the Company's objects, which is approved or ratified by the Board.
- 8.2.2 Nothing in this Rule 8 prevents Members from receiving services provided by the Company for which they are eligible as members of the community.

9. GENERAL MEETINGS

9.1 Annual General Meeting

- 9.1.1 The Company must hold an Annual General Meeting at least once in each calendar year.
- 9.1.2 The ordinary business of the Annual General Meeting shall be:
 - 9.1.2.1 the consideration of the annual financial report, Directors' report and auditors' report;
 - 9.1.2.2 the election of Directors;
 - 9.1.2.3 the appointment and termination of the auditor.
- 9.1.3 The Company may consider other business at the Annual General Meeting.
- 9.1.4 The Company may convene general meetings in addition to the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with this Rule 9.

9.2 Convening of meetings by Directors

A general meeting must be convened if requested by the majority of Directors.

9.3 Convening of meetings by Members

The Directors must call and arrange to hold a general meeting if required to do so under the Act.

9.4 Notice of general meeting

- 9.4.1 Written notice of a general meeting must be given at least 21 days prior to the meeting and must specify the place, the day and the hour of meeting and if the meeting is to be held in two or more places, the technology that will be used to facilitate the meeting, the general nature of the business to be transacted and any other matters as are required by the Act.
- 9.4.2 A notice of a general meeting may be given by any form of communication permitted by the Act.
- 9.4.3 The accidental omission to give notice of any general meeting to, or the nonreceipt of a notice by, a person entitled to receive notice does not invalidate a resolution passed at the general meeting.

9.5 Cancellation of general meetings

- 9.5.1 The Directors may cancel a general meeting, other than a general meeting which they are required to convene and hold under the Act.
- 9.5.2 A meeting may only be cancelled in accordance with Rule 9.5.1 if notice of the cancellation is given to all persons entitled to receive notice of the meeting at least two (2) Business Days prior to the time of the meeting, as specified in notice of meeting.

9.6 Quorum at general meetings

- 9.6.1 Except as otherwise set out in this document, the lesser of:
 - 9.6.1.1 25% (or the next highest whole number) of the total number of Voting Members; and
 - 9.6.1.2 10 Voting Members

present in person or by representative is a quorum.

- 9.6.2 Business may not be transacted at a general meeting unless a quorum of Voting Members is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business.
- 9.6.3 If a quorum is not present within half an hour from the time appointed for the meeting or a longer period allowed by the chairperson:
 - 9.6.3.1 if the meeting was convened by or on the requisition of Members, it must be dissolved; or

- 9.6.3.2 otherwise, it must stand adjourned:
 - 9.6.3.2.1 to the same day in the next week at the same time and place; or
 - 9.6.3.2.2 to another day and at another place determined by the Board.
- 9.6.4 No notice is necessary for the reconvening of a meeting adjourned in accordance with Rule 9.6.3.2 but in all other cases, Rule 9.10 applies.

9.7 Quorum at adjourned general meetings

At the adjourned meeting if a quorum is not present within half an hour after the time appointed for the meeting, the meeting must be dissolved.

9.8 Appointment of chairperson

- 9.8.1 If the Board has elected one of their number as chairperson of their meetings in accordance with Rule 13.7.1, that person is entitled to preside as chairperson at every general meeting.
- 9.8.2 The Directors present at a general meeting must elect one of their number to chair the meeting if either of the following applies:
 - 9.8.2.1 no Director has been elected as the chairperson of Directors meeting; or
 - 9.8.2.2 the chairperson is not present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or they are unwilling to act.
- 9.8.3 The Voting Members present at a general meeting must elect one of their number to chair the meeting if there are no Directors present within 15 minutes after the time appointed for the holding of the meeting or all Directors present decline to take the chair.

9.9 Chairperson's powers

- 9.9.1 Subject to the terms of this document dealing with adjournment of meetings, the ruling of the chairperson on all matters relating to the order of business, procedure and conduct of the general meeting is final and no motion of dissent from a ruling of the chairperson may be accepted.
- 9.9.2 The chairperson, in their discretion may expel any Member or Director from a general meeting if the chairperson reasonably considers that the Member or Director's conduct is inappropriate behaviour. Any of the following conduct may be considered inappropriate in a general meeting:
 - 9.9.2.1 the use of offensive or abusive language which is directed to any person, object or thing;
 - 9.9.2.2 attendance at the meeting while under the influence of any kind of illegal or illicit drug

9.9.2.3 the use or consumption of any illegal or illicit drug by a person at the meeting;

9.10 Adjournment of meetings

- 9.10.1 The chairperson may, with the consent of any meeting at which a quorum is present, and must if so directed by the meeting, adjourn the meeting to another time and to another place.
- 9.10.2 The only business that may be transacted at any adjourned meeting is the business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place.
- 9.10.3 When a meeting is adjourned, other than to the same time at the same place in the following week, notice of the adjourned meeting and of the business left unfinished must be given as in the case of an original meeting.

9.11 Voting on show of hands

- 9.11.1 At a general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting must be declared on a show of hands unless a Poll is demanded in accordance with Rule 9.12:
 - 9.11.1.1 before that vote is taken; or
 - 9.11.1.2 before the result is declared; or
 - 9.11.1.3 immediately after the result is declared.
- 9.11.2 If a Poll is not duly demanded:
 - 9.11.2.1 a declaration by the chairperson that a resolution has on a show of hands been carried or carried unanimously, or by a particular majority, or lost; and
 - 9.11.2.2 an entry to that effect in the book containing the minutes of the proceedings of the Company,

is conclusive evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution.

9.11.3 Each Voting Member is entitled to a single vote and each vote is of equal value in determining an outcome. Voting Members may make more than one vote if they are holding proxies for other Voting Members to the number and extent of the number of proxies they hold.

9.12 Demand for a Poll

A Poll may be demanded by either:

- 9.12.1.1 the chairperson; or
- 9.12.1.2 at least five (5) Voting Members entitled to vote on the resolution.
- 9.12.2 The demand for a Poll may be withdrawn.

- 9.12.3 The demand for a Poll does not prevent the continuance of a meeting for the transaction of business other than the question on which a Poll is demanded.
- 9.12.4 If a Poll is duly demanded, it must be taken in the manner and, except as to the election of a chairperson or on a question of adjournment, either at once or after an interval or adjournment or otherwise as the chairperson directs. The result of the Poll is the resolution of the meeting at which the Poll is demanded.
- 9.12.5 A Poll demanded on the election of a chairperson or on a question of adjournment must be taken immediately.

9.13 Voting rights of Voting Members

- 9.13.1 On a show of hands every person present who is a Voting Member has one vote.
- 9.13.2 On a Poll every Voting Member present in person or by proxy, attorney or representative has one vote.

9.14 Vote of the Chairperson at general meetings

The chairperson of a general meeting is entitled to a second or casting vote.

9.15 Objections to voter qualification

- 9.15.1 No objection may be raised to the qualification of a voter except at the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is given or tendered.
- 9.15.2 An objection to the qualification of a voter must be referred to the chairperson, whose decision is final.
- 9.15.3 A vote not disallowed according to an objection as provided in this document is valid for all purposes.

9.16 Mode of meeting for Members

A general meeting may be called or held using any technology consented to by all the Members. The consent may be a standing one. A Member may only withdraw their consent within a reasonable period before the meeting. The Members may otherwise regulate their meetings as they think fit.

9.17 Resolution in writing

A resolution in writing signed by all Voting Members, excluding Members who have been given leave of absence, is to be treated as a determination of the Members passed at a meeting of the Members duly convened and held.

9.18 Form of resolution in writing

9.18.1 A resolution in writing may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more Voting Members and if so signed it takes effect on the latest date on which a Voting Member signs one of the documents.

- 9.18.2 If a resolution in writing is signed by a proxy of a Voting Member, it must not also be signed by the appointing Member and vice versa.
- 9.18.3 In relation to a resolution in writing a document generated by electronic means which purports to be a facsimile of a resolution of Members is to be treated as a resolution in writing and a document bearing a facsimile of a signature is to be treated as signed.

10. PROXIES AND REPRESENTATIVES

Voting members may elect to appoint either a natural person or body corporate to be their proxy and to direct their vote on a matter subject to a vote at a meeting of members.

11. APPOINTMENT AND RETIREMENT OF DIRECTORS

11.1 Directors

The Directors of the Company are:

- 11.1.1 those persons named in the Schedule who have consented to be named as the initial Directors in the application for incorporation of the Company to the Australian Securities and Investments Commission; and
- 11.1.2 such other persons appointed in accordance with these Rules.

11.2 Number of Directors

Until otherwise determined in accordance with this document, the number of Directors must not be less than five (5) nor more than twelve (12).

11.3 Qualifications of Directors

- 11.3.1 A person must be a Member to be eligible to be, or to remain, a Director.
- 11.3.2 A person is not eligible to be a Director if:
 - 11.3.2.1 under any legislation governing the Company or any of its activities; or
 - 11.3.2.2 under any funding or services arrangement or agreement between the Company and any government, government department or quasi-governmental authority ("funding agreement") that person would be ineligible to be a Director, or having that person as a Director would cause the Company to contravene any legislation, commit an offence or breach any funding agreement.

11.4 Tenure of Directors

11.4.1 The Directors named in the Schedule must, at the first Board meeting after incorporation, agree or draw lots so that:

- 11.4.1.1 one third (or the next highest whole number) of their number shall have a term expiring at the first annual general meeting of the Company;
- 11.4.1.2 one third (or the next highest whole number) of their number shall have a term expiring the second annual general meeting of the Company; and
- 11.4.1.3 the remainder shall have a term expiring at the third annual general meeting of the Company.
- 11.4.2 All subsequent Directors shall be appointed for a term expiring at the third annual general meeting after their appointment, except for Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy, whose term shall expire at the same meeting at which the term of the Director who he or she appointed to replace would have expired.
- 11.4.3 Non-electoral appointments of a director may occur:-
 - 11.4.3.1 To fill a casual vacancy
 - 11.4.3.2 To provide for needed, specific identified expertise
 - 11.4.3.3 To meet minimum requirements for numbers of directors
- 11.4.4 Any appointment made outside the formal electoral process (except in accordance with Rule 11.4.2) will serve a term of three years or a period from the date of their appointment to the time of the third Annual General Meeting held subsequent to their appointment, whichever is the shorter period.

11.5 Resignation of a Director

A person appointed or elected to replace a Director who has resigned before the expiry of their term must retire as a Director at the same meeting at which the term of the Director who he or she replaced would have expired.

11.6 Election of Directors

- 11.6.1 Only Voting Members of the Company are eligible to nominate for election or to become and remain a Director.
- 11.6.2 The Board will cause an election to be held in order to replace Directors whose terms are expiring, or where a person has been appointed for a period expiring at the next Annual General Meeting.
- 11.6.3 The Board will, prior to issuing notice of the Annual General Meeting, call for nominations from members for election to the Board. The Board may invite persons to nominate for election to the Board if the Board considers such persons' skills or experience would be valuable or advantageous.
- 11.6.4 Only Voting Members of the Company may vote in an election.

11.7 Notice of Election

The Board must give written notice of an election and the method of that election, and provide details of the nominees for Board positions, prior to or at the same time as the

notice of the Annual General Meeting is issued.

11.8 Retirement of Directors & Eligibility for re-election

- 11.8.1 A Director may retire from office by giving notice in writing to the Company of that Director's intention to retire. A notice of resignation takes effect at the time which is the later of:
 - 11.8.1.1 the time of giving the notice to the Company; and
 - 11.8.1.2 the expiration of the period, if any, specified in the notice.
- 11.8.2 A Director retiring at an annual general meeting who is not disqualified by law from being reappointed is eligible for re-election and may act as a Director throughout the meeting at which that Director retires.
- 11.8.3 Notwithstanding anything else in this Rule 11, a Director may not serve more than three (3) consecutive three (3) year terms. For the avoidance of doubt, no person may serve more than nine (9) consecutive years as a Director.
- 11.8.4 Previous directors who have served 3 full consecutive terms may nominate for election to the Board following an exclusion period of three (3) years.

11.9 Casual vacancies

- 11.9.1 The Board (or a sole surviving Director) may at any time appoint a person to be a Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing number of Directors. The total number of Directors may not exceed the number fixed in accordance with Rule 11.2.
- 11.9.2 A Director appointed under Rule 11.9.1 as an addition to the existing number of Directors only holds office only until the next general meeting after the appointment and is then, subject to these Rules, eligible for re-election.
- 11.9.3 Casual vacancies filled through a non-electoral process may occur for any of the reasons stated in Rule 11.4.3.

11.10 Removal from office

- 11.10.1 The Board may, by ordinary resolution, remove a Director from office and may by ordinary resolution appoint another person as a replacement.
- 11.10.2 A person appointed to replace a Director removed from office must retire as a Director at the same meeting at which the term of the Director who he or she appointed to replace would have expired.

11.11 Vacation of office

- 11.11.1 In addition to the circumstances in which the office of a Director becomes vacant by virtue of the Act or another provision of this document, the office of Director becomes vacant if any of the following occurs:
 - 11.11.1.1 if the Director ceases to be eligible under Rule 11.3;
 - 11.11.1.2 if the Director becomes an insolvent under administration;

- 11.11.1.3 if the Director becomes of unsound mind or a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way under the law relating to mental health;
- 11.11.1.4 if the Director is absent without the consent of the Directors from Board meetings held during a continuous period of three (3) months and the Board resolves that the office of that Director be vacated; or
- 11.11.1.5 if the Director becomes prohibited from being a Director by reason of an order made under the Act.

11.12 Suspension

- 11.12.1 The Board may, by a majority of not less than 75% of the total number of Directors, suspend any Director from office for any reason and for any period, not exceeding 3 months that the Board thinks fit.
- 11.12.2 A suspended Director is not entitled to receive notices of Board meetings, nor any Board papers, during the period of the suspension.
- 11.12.3 If a General Meeting occurs during the period of suspension, the Board must put the suspension to the Members at the General Meeting for ratification by ordinary resolution. If the Members do not ratify the suspension, the Director's suspension ends as and from the General Meeting.
- 11.12.4 Nothing in paragraph 11.12.3 limits the rights of the Members to remove any Director in a manner permitted by these Rules or under the Act.

11.13 Alternate Directors

The Board may appoint one or more alternate Directors by ordinary resolution and otherwise in the manner required by the Act.

12. POWERS OF DIRECTOR

The Board may exercise all those powers of the Company as are not, by legislation or by this document, required to be exercised by the Members in general meeting or otherwise.

13. **REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS**

- **13.1** Should the Board decide to pay remuneration the Board may fix the remuneration of each Director.
- **13.2** Such remuneration may consist of any, or any combination of, salary, bonuses, commissions, a proportion of revenue or any other elements.
- **13.3** If the Board decides to include non-cash benefits in the remuneration of a Director, the Board must also decide the manner in which the value of those benefits is to be calculated.
- **13.4** If a Director, at the request of the Board and for the purposes of the Company, performs extra services or makes special exertions (including going or living away from the Director's usual residential address), the Company may remunerate that Director for doing so.

13.5 Remuneration under Rule 13.4 may be either in addition to or in substitution for any remuneration to which that Director is entitled under Rule 13.2 or 13.3.

14. PROCEEDINGS OF DIRECTORS

14.1 Convening of Board Meetings

A Director may at any time, and a Company Secretary must on the request of a Director, convene a meeting of the Board.

14.2 Notice of Board Meetings

- 14.2.1 Notice of each Board meeting must be given to each Director at least twentyfour (24) hours before the meeting or at another time determined by resolution of the Board.
- 14.2.2 Despite Rule 14.2.1 all Directors may waive in writing the required period of notice for a particular meeting, and it is not necessary to give notice of a Board meeting to a Director who is out of Australia or who has been given leave of absence.

14.3 Mode of Board meeting

A Board meeting may be called or held using any technology consented to by all the Directors. The consent may be a standing one. A Director may only withdraw their consent within a reasonable period before the meeting. The Board may otherwise regulate their meetings as they think fit.

14.4 Frequency of Board Meetings

The Board will hold a minimum of 8 meetings per annum.

14.5 Quorum at Board meetings

- 14.5.1 At a Board meeting, the number of Directors whose presence is necessary to constitute a quorum is half of the total number of Directors as at the date of the meeting, or the next highest whole number of Directors.
- 14.5.2 If the number of Directors is reduced below the number necessary for a quorum of Directors, the continuing Director or Directors may act only to appoint additional Directors to the number necessary for a quorum or to convene a general meeting of the Company.
- 14.5.3 Acts done or decisions taken at a Board meeting at which a quorum was not present may be ratified at a subsequent Board meeting at which a quorum is present.

14.6 Voting at Board meetings

Questions arising at a Board meeting must be decided by a majority of votes of Directors present and voting. A decision of the majority is for all purposes a decision of the Directors.

14.7 Appointment of chairperson of Directors

- 14.7.1 The Board may elect a Director to chair their meetings and determine the period for which the person elected is to hold office.
- 14.7.2 If a chairperson has not been elected, or if at any meeting the chairperson is not present within ten (10) minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting or is unwilling to act, the Directors present may choose one of their number to chair the meeting.

14.8 Chairperson's vote at Directors meetings

The chairperson has a second or casting vote at Board meetings.

14.9 Disclosure of pecuniary or other interests by Directors

- 14.9.1 A Director who has a material personal interest that relates to the affairs of the Company must give other Directors notice of that interest unless the Act otherwise provides.
- 14.9.2 This notice must give details of the nature and extent of the interest, the relation of the interest to the affairs of the Company, and must be given at a meeting of the Board as soon as practicable after becoming aware of their interest in the matter. The details must be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.
- 14.9.3 A Director may be present and may vote on a matter before the Board if and to the extent that they are permitted to do so under the Act.
- 14.9.4 If there are not enough Directors to form a quorum as a result of a Director having an interest which disqualifies them from voting, then one or more of the Directors (including those who have the disqualifying interest in the matter) may call a general meeting of the Company and the general meeting may pass a resolution to deal with the matter.

14.10 Delegation of powers to committee

- 14.10.1 The Board may delegate any of their powers to committees consisting of Directors or other persons as they think fit to act in Australia or elsewhere.
- 14.10.2 The exercise of power by a committee in accordance with this document is to be treated as the exercise of that power by the Board.
- 14.10.3 In the exercise of any powers delegated to it, a committee formed by the Board must conform to the directions of the Board.

14.11 Proceedings of committees

Except as provided in a direction of the Board, the meetings and proceedings of a committee formed by the Board must be governed by the provisions of this document, in so far as they are applicable, as if meetings and proceedings of the committee are meetings and proceedings of the Board.

14.12 Validity of acts of Board

All acts done by a Board meeting or of a committee or by a person acting as a Director

are valid even if it is later discovered that there is a defect in:

- 14.12.1 the appointment of a person to be a Director or a Member of the committee; or
- 14.12.2 that they or any of them were disqualified or were not entitled to vote.

14.13 Minutes

- 14.13.1 The Board must cause minutes of all proceedings of general meetings, of Board meetings, and of committees formed by the Board to be recorded, and held securely, within one (1) month after the relevant meeting is held. Minutes should be available to Directors electronically or in hard copy if requested.
- 14.13.2 The Board must cause all minutes, except resolutions in writing treated as determinations of the Board, to be signed by the chairperson of the meeting at which the proceedings took place or by the chairperson of the next succeeding meeting. Signed copies should be held in books kept for the purpose.

14.14 Resolution in writing

A resolution in writing signed by all Directors, excluding Directors who have been given leave of absence, is to be treated as a determination of the Board passed at a meeting of the Board duly convened and held.

14.15 Form of resolution in writing

- 14.15.1 A resolution in writing may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by one or more Directors and if so signed it takes effect on the latest date on which a Director signs one of the documents.
- 14.15.2 If a resolution in writing is signed by an alternate Director, it must not also be signed by the appointor of the alternate Director and vice versa.
- 14.15.3 In relation to a resolution in writing a document generated by electronic means which purports to be a facsimile of a resolution of Directors is to be treated as a resolution in writing and a document bearing a facsimile of a signature is to be treated as signed.

15. SECRETARY

15.1 Appointment

- 15.1.1 The Board must appoint one or more Secretaries and may at any time terminate the appointment or appointments.
- 15.1.2 The Board may determine the terms and conditions of appointment of a Secretary, including remuneration.

15.2 Powers of Secretary

Any one of the Secretaries may carry out any act or deed required by this document, the Act or by any other statute to be carried out by the Secretary of the Company.

16. CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

16.1 Appointment

The Board must resolve to appoint a Chief Executive Officer, and must, by that same resolution, set the remuneration and powers of that Chief Executive Officer.

16.2 Chief Executive Officer as Secretary

- 16.2.1 The Board may, but is not obliged to, appoint any Chief Executive Officer appointed under Rule 15.1 as the Company's Secretary.
- 16.2.2 At any time when the Company has a Chief Executive Officer but no Secretary, the Chief Executive Officer must fulfil the duties of the Secretary as set out in these Rules.

17. INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE

17.1 Indemnity

- 17.1.1 The Company will indemnify each Director and Officer of the Company against all losses and liabilities (including costs, expenses and charges) incurred by that person in their role as Director and Officer of the Company to the extent that the company is not precluded by law from doing so, and for the amount that they are not otherwise entitled to be indemnified and is not so actually indemnified by another person (including an insurer under a relevant insurance policy).
- 17.1.2 The indemnity is a continuing obligation and is enforceable by a Director or Officer even though that person is no longer holding a role with the company.
- 17.1.3 To the extent permitted by law the Company will enter into an insurance contract insuring a person who is or has been a Director or Officer of the company against any liability incurred by the person as a Director or Officer of the company.
- 17.1.4 The extent of the liability of BCH will be limited to the degree to which the act or omission of a Director of Officer has contributed to the injury, harm or other loss claimed. To the extent that any other party has contributed to the injury, harm or other loss that party will be liable in direct proportion to the degree of negligence for any liability so incurred.

17.2 Insurance

- 17.2.1 When multiple insurance policies exist covering the same liabilities the parties agree that the indemnity to be provided will be split in proportion to the limit of liability of each policy in order to settle a claim for a determined amount.
- 17.2.2 The existence of these provisions does not in itself represent an admission of liability on the part of the Company to any claim of negligence made by a Third Party against a Director or Officer of the Company. Ballarat Community Health reserves the right to defend any claim to the fullest extent or to subrogate the right to do so to an approved insurer or insurers.

18. EXECUTION OF DOCUMENTS

18.1 Common Seal

- 18.1.1 Unless the Board resolves otherwise, the Company shall have a Seal.
- 18.1.2 If the Company has a Seal:
 - 18.1.2.1 the Board shall provide for the safety custody of the Seal; and
 - 18.1.2.2 no document may be executed using the Seal unless authorised by the resolution of the Board; and
- 18.1.3 The Seal shall be used only by the authority of the Board, or of a committee of the Board authorised by the Board to authorise the use of the Seal.

18.2 Execution using the Seal

The Company may execute a document using a Seal if the Seal is affixed to the document and the affixing of the Seal is witnessed by:

- 18.2.1 two (2) Directors;
- 18.2.2 a Director and a Secretary; or
- 18.2.3 a Director and another person appointed by the Board for this purpose.

18.3 Execution without a Seal

The Company may execute a document without using a Seal if the document is signed by:

- 18.3.1 two (2) Directors;
- 18.3.2 a Director and a Secretary; or
- 18.3.3 a Director and another person appointed by the Directors for this purpose; or otherwise signed in accordance with any policy adopted from time to time by the Board pursuant to Rule 18.4

18.4 Signing policy

The Board may adopt a policy from time to time giving persons other than Directors the authority to sign documents on behalf of the Company.

19. DISPUTE RESOLUTION

- **19.1** Before court or arbitration proceedings other than for urgent interlocutory relief may be commenced, the following steps must be taken to attempt to resolve any dispute that arises out of or in connection with the business of the Board of Directors.
- **19.2** Notice must be given in writing by the Director claiming that a dispute has arisen to the other Director (or Directors) specifying the nature of the dispute.

- **19.3** Upon receipt of the notice of dispute, the Director must attempt to agree upon an appropriate procedure for resolving the dispute.
- **19.4** If within ten (10) business days of receipt of the notice of dispute the dispute is not resolved or an appropriate alternative dispute resolution process is not agreed, then the parties shall refer the dispute to a formal mediation or dispute resolution service.
- **19.5** The parties must co-operate with the mediation or resolution process.

20. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

- **20.1** A conflict of interest occurs when a Director's personal or professional interests conflict with their responsibility to act in the best interests of the organisation. Personal interests include direct interests as well as those of immediate family or other organisations a person may be involved with or have an interest in (for example, as a shareholder).
- **20.2** It also includes a conflict between Director's duty to Ballarat Community Health and another duty that the Director has (for example, to another organisation or statutory authority).
- **20.3** A conflict of interest may be actual, potential or perceived and may be financial or non-financial.
- **20.4** Pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests are to be declared annually by all Directors and will be entered into the Ballarat Community Health Board Register of Interests, as well as being documented by the Board.
- **20.5** The Register of Interests must be maintained by the Chief Executive Officer and record information related to a conflict of interest, including the nature and extent of the conflict of interest and any steps taken to address it.
- **20.6** Where a conflict of interest is disclosed, the Board (excluding the Director disclosing and any other conflicted Director) must decide whether or not those conflicted Board members should:
 - 20.6.1 vote on the matter (this is a minimum),
 - 20.6.2 participate in any debate, or
 - 20.6.3 leave the room during the debate and the voting.
- **20.7** A decision made by the Board of Directors in accordance with Rule 20.6 may not be challenged.

21. DISSOLUTION OF COMPANY

- **21.1** The Company may only be wound up and its assets disposed of by Special Resolution of its Voting Members in accordance with the Act.
- **21.2** Where required by a contract or funding and service agreement any asset of the Company that consists of property supplied by a government department or other authority must be returned to that department or authority.
- **21.3** Subject to Rule 21.2 if on the winding up and dissolution of the Company, there remains after satisfaction of all debts and liabilities, any assets or property other than

the Gift Fund, this will not be paid or distributed to any Member of the Company but will be given or transferred to an organisation which:

- 21.3.1 has objectives or purposes similar to those of the Company;
- 21.3.2 is a fund, or organisation approved by the Commissioner for Taxation as a public benevolent institution or health promotion charity under the *Income Tax*; and
- 21.3.3 prohibits the distribution of its income and property among its Members to at least the extent of the Company.

22. GIFT FUND

22.1 Definitions

- 22.1.1 ITAA 97 means Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth); and
- 22.1.2 **DGR** means a 'deductible gift recipient' within the meaning of section 30-227(2) of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.

22.2 Gift Fund

The Company must maintain a gift fund for the principal purpose of the Company (as reflected in the objects set out in Rule 3):

- 22.2.1 to which gifts of money or property for that purpose are to be made; and
- 22.2.2 to which contributions (described in item 7 or 8 of the table in section 30-15 of ITAA 97) in relation to a fundraising event held for that purpose are to be made; and
- 22.2.3 to which any money received by the entity because of such gifts or contributions is to be credited; and
- 22.2.4 that does not receive any other money.

22.3 Use of gift fund

The Company must use the gift fund (including any gift, contribution or money credited to the gift fund) only for the principal purpose of the Company (as reflected in the objects set out in Rule 3).

22.4 Record keeping

The Company must comply with the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 requirements for gift funds and the record keeping obligations of the Taxation Administration Act 1997

22.5 Winding up of gift fund

22.5.1 The gift fund may be wound up:

- 22.5.1.1 by special resolution of the Members; or
- 22.5.1.2 by order of a Court; or
- 22.5.1.3 if DGR endorsement is revoked.
- 22.5.2 If the Company or the gift fund is wound up (or if the endorsement of the Company as a DGR is revoked), any surplus assets of the gift fund remaining after the payment of liabilities attributable to it shall be transferred to a fund, authority or institution to which income tax deductible gifts can be made, such fund, authority or institution to be determined by ordinary resolution of the Board.

23. ACCOUNTS, AUDIT AND RECORDS

23.1 Accounts

The Directors must cause proper accounting and other records to be kept in accordance with the Act. The Directors must distribute copies of every profit and loss account and balance sheet (including every document required by law to be attached thereto) as required by the Act.

23.2 Audit

- 23.2.1 A registered Company auditor must be appointed and may be changed by any method permitted by the Act.
- 23.2.2 An external audit process has been legislated in Victoria for Community Health Centres to be managed by the Victorian Auditor General's Office (VAGO) from 2020.

23.3 Rights of Inspection

Subject to the Act, the Board may determine whether and to what extent, and at what times and places and under what conditions, the accounting records and other documents of the Company or any of them are open to the inspection of Members other than Directors, and a Member other than a Director does not have the right to inspect any document of the Company except as provided by law or authorised by the Board or by the Company in general meeting.

23.4 Financial Year

Ballarat Community Health maintains a financial year running from 01 July to 30 June.

24. NOTICES

24.1 Persons authorised to give notices

- 24.1.1 A notice by either the Company or a Member in connection with document may be given on behalf of the Company or Member by a solicitor, director or Company secretary of the Company or Member.
- 24.1.2 The signature of a person on a notice given by the Company may be written, printed or stamped.

24.2 Method of giving notices

In addition to the method for giving notices permitted by statute, a notice by the Company or a Member in connection with this document may be given to the addressee by any of the following means:

- 24.2.1 by delivering it to a street address of the addressee;
- 24.2.2 by sending it by prepaid ordinary post (airmail if outside Australia) to a street or postal address of the addressee; or
- 24.2.3 by sending it by facsimile, email or other legal electronic means to the facsimile number, email address or other electronic address of the addressee.

24.3 Addresses for giving notices to Members

- 24.3.1 The street address or postal address of a Member is the street or postal address of the Member shown in the Register.
- 24.3.2 The facsimile number, email or other legal electronic address of a Member is the contact address which the Member provides on joining and may specify by written notice to the Company as the contact address to which notices may be sent to the Member.

24.4 Address for giving notices to the Company

- 24.4.1 The street and postal address of the Company is the Registered Office.
- 24.4.2 The facsimile number, email or other legal electronic address of the Company is the number or address which the Company may specify by written notice to the members as the address to which notices may be sent to the Company.

24.5 Time notice of meeting is given

A notice of meeting given in accordance with this document is to be taken as given, served and received at the following times:

- 24.5.1 if delivered in writing to the street address of the addressee, at the time of delivery;
- 24.5.2 if it is sent by post to the street or postal address of the addressee, on the business day after posting;
- 24.5.3 if sent by facsimile to the facsimile number of the addressee, at the time transmission is completed; or
- 24.5.4 if sent electronically at the time determined by application of the provisions of the Electronic Transactions (Victoria) Act 2000 (Vic).

24.6 Time other notices are given

A notice given in accordance with this document is to be taken as given, served and received at the following times:

- 24.6.1 if delivered in writing to the street address of the addressee, at the time of delivery;
- 24.6.2 if it is sent by post to the street or postal address of the addressee, on the 2nd (5th if outside Australia) business day after posting;
- 24.6.3 if sent by facsimile to the facsimile number of the addressee, at the time transmission is completed; or
- 24.6.4 if sent electronically, at the time determined by application of the provisions of the Electronic Transactions (Victoria) Act 2000 (Vic).

24.7 **Proof of giving notices**

The sending of a notice by facsimile or email and the time of completion of transmission may be proved conclusively by production of the relevant one of the following:

- 24.7.1 a transmission report by the facsimile machine from which the notice was transmitted which indicates that a facsimile of the notice was sent in its entirety to the facsimile number of the addressee; or
- 24.7.2 a print out of an acknowledgement of receipt of the email.

24.8 Persons entitled to notice of meeting

Notice of every general meeting must be given by a method authorised by this document to all of the following persons:

- 24.8.1 every Member;
- 24.8.2 every Director;
- 24.8.3 the auditor for the time being of the Company, if any.
- 24.8.4 No other person is entitled to receive notices of general meetings.

SCHEDULE

Application Fee:	\$0.00
Annual Subscription:	\$10.00
Guarantee Amount:	\$1.00

Address	Signature